SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-520 Lower Tribunal No. 3D02-2316

SUNSET HARBOUR NORTH CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, as representative; et al.

Appellants,

vs.

JOEL ROBBINS,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, SUNSET HARBOUR NORTH CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, et al.

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal Third District, State of Florida

> Mitchell A. Feldman, P.A. Suite 111 1021 Ives Dairy Road Miami, Florida 33139 -and-Arnaldo Velez, P.A.

35 Almeria Avenue Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Tel: 305-461-9499 <u>

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

Appellant, Sunset Harbour North Condominium Association, Inc., filed suit challenging a \$20,000,000.00 valuation of its property for the year 1997, arguing that under \$192.042(1), Fla. Stat. (1997)¹ the Miami-Dade County Tax Appraiser was required to place no value on improvements not "substantially complete" as of January 1 of that tax year. Appellee, the Miami-Dade County Property Appraiser, filed a general denial and an affirmative defense that the statute was unconstitutional.

2

¹ No change in text has occurred since 1997. *See* §192.042, Fla. Stat. (2001).

Summary judgment was entered by the trial court in the Tax Appraiser's favor, finding the statute unconstitutional. The Third District agreed and affirmed.²

Sunset Harbour requests review of the Third District's decision that incorporated and adopted a prior decision of the Third District *Fuchs v. Robbins*, 73 So. 2d 338, 341-348 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1999) finding §192.042(1) unconstitutional. You quashed *Fuchs v. Robbins* (at 818 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 2002)) on the basis that a Tax Appraiser does not have standing to challenge the statute.³

POINT ON APPEAL

IS THE *SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION* REGULATION PRESCRIBED BY THE LEGISLATURE UNDER § 192.042(1) A LEGISLATIVE REGULATION THAT STRAYS BEYOND THE AUTHORITY OF ARTICLE VII, §4, OF FLORIDA'S CONSTITUTION

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

² Sunset Harbour North Condominium Association v. Robbins, 837 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 3d DCA, 2003).

³ Your decision in *Fuchs v. Robbins*, 818 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 2002) appears to approve the propriety of the Tax Appraiser's ability to file an affirmative defense on constitutional grounds. However, the article *Fuchs v. Robbins*, *Dictum on Property Appraiser Standing to Challenge Taxing Statutes Inconsistent With Longstanding Precedent Set in Atlantic Coast Line*, scholarly and well written, appearing in the May, 2003 Florida Bar Journal (Vol. XXVII), questions this point, which requires clarification.

Each and every word of Article VII, Section 4 of our Constitution requires attention to consider the propriety of legislative action. Plenary regulation and prescription in the area of taxation is the department of the legislature, for it is allowed to prescribe **regulations** for a **just valuation**.⁴ This legislative process appears to create classes other than those identified by the Constitution, but this is permissible as the textual empowerment is that to prescribe *regulations by general law*. That is why the statute in issue does not escape the orbit permitted the legislature.

Valuation is not an exact or precise art; rather, it involves judgment. And this judgment can be exercised to achieve a *just* result or *just value*. So the legislature prescribed a reasonable and necessary timing *regulation* to secure a *just valuation* regarding improvements that are not substantially complete", necessary because uniformity of application is required. Some might find the regulation unfair - others may not. Notwithstanding the debate, the statute contains a view on the matter and the view and choice is that of the People. Its wisdom is not of appropriate concern to the judiciary.

ARGUMENT

⁴

All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

The Third District's conclusion rests on three premises: (1) the mandate of Article VII, Section 4 requiring the legislature to enact regulations *which shall secure a just valuation of all property for ad valorem taxation* prohibits regulations that do not prescribe valuation at other than fair market value, (2) a valuation that places no value on property is not a *just* valuation, and (3) the 1968 adoption of Article VII, section 4 proscribes legislative enactment of a *regulation* that may be viewed as creating a classification for ad valorem tax purposes other than those specified by sections (a), (b) and (c). All three premises are incorrect.

Since it is the Constitution, the organon of government, that is under consideration, every word and phrase must be considered to achieve the harmonious framework intended by the People.⁵ Article VII, Section 4, an overarching

provision,⁶ materially provides:

SECTION 4. Taxation; assessments.--By general law regulations shall be prescribed which shall secure a just valuation of all property for ad valorem taxation, provided:

(a) Agricultural land, land producing high water recharge to Florida's aquifers or land used exclusively for non-commercial recreational purposes may be classified by general law and assessed solely on the basis of character or use.

He never lost sight of the fact that the Constitution is primarily a great charter of government, and often repeated Marshall's words: "it is a constitution we are expounding"...Hence, its provisions were to be read not with the narrow literalism of a municipal code or a penal statute, but so that its high purposes should illumine every sentence and phrase of the document and be given effect as part of a harmonious framework of government.

cf. Carribean Conserv. v. Fla. Fish & Wildlife, 838 So.2d 492, 500 (Fla. 2003) (with questions concerning regulatory statutes an examination of the explicit language is in order).

⁵ See State ex. rel. Ellars v. Board of Com'rs of Orange County, 147 Fla. 278, 3 So. 2d 360 (1941)(Every word of a State Constitution should be given its intended meaning and effect, and essential provisions of a Constitution are to be regarded as mandatory); State ex. rel Gibbs v. Couch, 139 Fla. 353, 376, 190 So. 723, 732 (1939); see also Sebring Airport Authority v. McIntye, supra, 783 So. 2d at 243, fn. 4 (Fla. 2001)(referencing Chief Justice Stone's words on the death of Mr. Justice Brandeis:

⁶ Sebring Airport Authority v. McIntyre, 783 So. 2d 238, 245.

(b) Pursuant to general law tangible personal property held for sale as stock in trade and livestock may be valued for taxation at a specified percentage of its value, may be classified for tax purposes, or may be exempted from taxation.

(c) All persons entitled to a homestead exemption under Section 6 of this Article shall have their homestead assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year following the effective date of this amendment. This assessment shall change only as provided herein.

We start from a simple premise. Section 4 is not self executing - in the area

of taxation general law through prescription is the dictate, and the power for

prescription is peculiarly left to the legislature⁷ since:

...the legislature's **power and discretion in regard to taxation are broad, plenary, unlimited and supreme**. All questions as to mode, form, character, or extent of taxation, exemption or nonexemption, apportionment, means of assessment and collection, and all other incidents of the taxing power, **are for the legislature to decide.**⁸

And it is the legislature that supplies instruction to the Tax Appraiser through regulation regarding just valuation. The Tax Appraiser is only identified by the Constitution - no duties or instruction are prescribed by it.

⁷ See State ex. rel Atty Gen. v. City of Avon Park, 108 Fla. 641, 149 So. 409, 416 (1933). More so than in other areas the freedom for classification is extensive. Markham v. Yankee Clipper Hotel, Inc., 427 So. 2d 383, 385 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1983) rev. den., 434 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1983).

⁸ *Miller v. Higgs*, 468 So. 2d 371, 375 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1985), *rev. den.*, 479 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 1985), (overruled on other grounds, *Capital City County Club v. Tucker*, 613 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1993).

Moreover, we observe and emphasize the allotment of the People to the legislature is one to prescribe *regulations* through *general law* that secure a *just valuation*. Indeed, the premise of *just valuation* has appeared in every Constitution since 1868. *Just valuation*, derived from *just value* is legal art adopted in the 19th century⁹; it is considered the process of *assessing or fixing the value of a thing*, that has *reasonable or adequate grounds* or is *equitable*.¹⁰ As recognized in *Minnesota*

Rate Cases (Simpson v. Shepard), 230 U S. 352, 33 S. Ct. 729, 754 (1916):

The ascertainment of . . . value is not controlled by artificial rules. It is not a matter of formulas, but there must be reasonable judgment, having its basis in a proper consideration of all relevant facts

yielding a conclusion that the valuation of property cannot be determined by adherence to any rigid mathematical rule.

⁹ *E.g. Graham v. Florida Land & Mortg. Co*, 33 Fla. 356, 373, 14 So. 796, 802(1894); *Yulee v. Canova* 11 Fla. 9, 21 (1864); and *see e.g.* Conn. Rev. Stat. § 840 (1854); Indiana Constitution of 1851, art. X, § 1; Maine Constitution of 1876, art. IX, § 8; Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 50, § 1 (1785); Vt. Stat. tit. 365, § 21 (1875).

¹⁰ Oxford English Dictionary, 2d Edition, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1989 Edition. See also Lake Hancock & C. R. Co. v. Stinson, 77 Fla. 333, 334, 81 So. 512 (1919) (just denotes something which is morally right and fair).

Certain decisions have observed that *just value* is synonymous with *fair market value*¹¹ and some may argue this judicial legislation¹² curtails the need to further consider the significance and dimension of *just valuation*, but this ignores the People's deliberate and consistent choice of the term *just valuation*. *Just valuation* is elastic, legal art, the deliberate choice of the authors of earlier Constitutions, who reading by candlelight and recalling the experience of the burden of taxation, knew the textual difference between *value* and *market value*. Their number knew, acknowledged and profited from the historical lesson that:

So difficult a matter, however, is it to separate the idea of *value* that it will be found text-writers and the courts have frequently used those terms as interchangeable, and both as being the equivalents of *'actual value,' 'saleable value'*...

While it is thus seen that the terms *value*, *market value* and *rental value* have been used somewhat indiscriminately, yet we think that there is a distinction between them, at least in cases where the matters or things contracted for have not been bought and sold in the market, so as to have established a *market value*; but even in such cases this is

¹¹ See Mazourek v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 831 So. 2d 85, 88 (Fla. 2003) Valencia Center v. Bystrom, 543 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 1989) and Walter v. Schuler, 176 So. 2d 81 (Fla. 1965). Decortication of these cases to yield the source of their authority exposes the broad sweep allotted the legislature to include in the fold such concepts as "highest and best use" and the factors set out in §193.011, Fla. Stat. (1997).

¹² Oliver Wendell Holmes observed *judges do and must legislate, but they can do only interstitially, they are confined from molar to molecular motions. Southern Pacific Co. v. Jensen,* 244 U.S. 205, 218, 221 (1919).

not the final or conclusive test of value. ...But where the article of or thing in question is unusual in its character as that there is little or no demand for, its *value* must be ascertained in some other way and from such elements as are attainable... in such cases it is evident that **to refer to the market as the sole standard of** *value* **may work serious injury to the party complainant.**¹³

Nothing has changed the significance of this precept. **Despite opportunity**, the People have not substituted "fair market value" as the polestar in the Constitution;¹⁴ the terminology is identical to that first appearing in the 1868 Constitution. To suggest *fair market value* as the limiter of *just valuation* is simply wrong¹⁵ and but a subscription to an artificial rule that deprives the legislature of its bestowed authority to provide measures and techniques for *just valuation*. This authority includes the

¹⁴ We have a form of government that can be described as a three-horse team - the legislative, the executive and the judicial. It is the People that have always been in the driver's seat; it is they that want the furrow plowed. Long ago the People gave a form of government that left to the legislature to pass on matters of taxation. Until it is shown that the extension of the wisdom of the People exercised through legislative enactment exceeds beyond reasonable doubt that office, then it is your duty to figure out a way to consider the legislation proper and it is your equal duty to affirm - to do otherwise is to subscribe for another regulatory scheme that you might have enacted but that is not your province.

¹⁵ For example, §199.032, Fla. Stat. (1997) prescribes an annual tax of one mill on the dollar of the "just valuation of all intangible personal property" and a nonrecurring tax of 2 mills on the dollar of the "just valuation of all notes, bonds and other obligations for payment." That the term "just valuation" in the context of this legislation could not be equivalent to "fair market value" evidences the concept of *just valuation* to be of different substance and greater magnitude.

¹³ Jonas v. Noel, 14 Pickle 317, 98 Tenn. 440, 443- 444 (1896).

creation of reasonable and necessary timing regulations by which taxation of improvements to real property can be applied even-handedly without inquiry into the value of each and every incomplete improvement to real property in the State.

Equally wrong is the notion that the license allotted the Legislature to *prescribe* a regulation directing the Tax Appraiser to place no value on an improvement is unjust and constitutionally unavailable. This is but an invasion into the province of wisdom of legislation, a task truly beyond the purview of judicial review, severely curtailed in this area of taxation. Concern as to whether additions may be considered as adding value to property was by this Court said to involve *nothing more than a question of legislative policy concerning what is to be considered a just valuation.*¹⁶ Thus, in *Maxcy*, a statute instructing the deletion of immature fruit bearing trees from consideration of value for tax purposes was upheld as but *a postponement of value*, *plainly a matter lying within the domain of the legislative policy.*¹⁷

Truly, license to prescribe regulations pertaining to taxation, to include text, timing and procedure by mandate are reserved to the legislature to enact through

¹⁶ *Maxcy v. Federal Land Bank of Columbia*, 111 Fla. 116, 120; 150 So. 248, 250(1933).

¹⁷ *Maxcy, supra,* 111 Fla. at 121; 150 So. at 251.

general law regulations to secure a just valuation - no other branch of government is allowed to prescribe in this area.

In prescribing *regulations* to assess a *just valuation* for all property the legislature adopted §192.042, Fla. Stat. (1997) that states:

• Real property, on January 1 of each year. Improvements or portions not substantially completed on January 1 shall have no value placed thereon. "Substantially completed" shall mean that the improvements or some self sufficient unit within it can be used for the purpose for which it was constructed.

The concept has existed at least since the days of *Maxcy*. As applied to improvements on real property, the statute has existed since 1961. In 1961, the Florida Legislature amended Section 193.11, Fla. Stat., (1959), by adding subsection (4). *See*,

Ch. 61-240, § 1, Laws of Fla., stating:

(4) All taxable lands upon which active construction of improvements is in progress and upon which such improvements are not substantially completed on the 1st day of January of any year shall be assessed for such year, as unimproved lands. Provided, however, the provisions hereof shall not apply in cases of alteration or improvement of existing structures. Its precursor §193.11(4), Fla. Stat. (1967). Since the contours of *just valuation* are surrendered to the legislature (without restriction that is positive or concrete), an inquiry arises how to value justly an unfinished improvement that cannot be used for its intended purpose .¹⁸

To tax one begins with a starting point - a date. Then for the assessment a methodology and direction are required, an inexact philosophy:

...Absent a miracle of time, place and circumstance - willing buyer, willing seller, high noon, January 1, 1984 for example - true market value for purposes of ad valorem taxation is always an estimate, always an expression of judgment, always a result built on a foundation of suppositions about knowledgeable and willing buyers and sellers, endowed with money and desire, whose desires are said to converge in a dollar description of the asset. All of this is simply a sophisticated effort at "let's pretend" or "modeling" in modern jargon, and all of it involves judgment. Not natural law, not science - judgment.¹⁹

A chosen date by the legislature is January 1²⁰ - the regulation on how to go

about doing it is contained in §192.402 and §193.011, with §192.402 acknowledged

¹⁸ How does one do this? Legislation has been submitted and considered without success. Surrender to the legislature on its conclusion that the structures have no taxable value is unquestionably necessary.

¹⁹ Union Pacific RR. Co. v. State Tax Comm'n of Utah, 716 F. Supp. 543, 554 (D. Utah., 1988); accord Powell v. Kelly, 223 So. 2d 305, 309 (Fla. 1969).

²⁰ Historically, a yearly tax is implied and January 1 has been legislatively chosen. *See, e.g.*, Ch. 4322, §§3, 68, Laws of Fla. (1895). *See*, Ch. 5596, §3, Laws of Fla. (1907), (the forerunner of present day §192.053, Fla. Stat.), wherein the legislature set a date on which property liens attach.

as a "*specific statutory scheme for the timing of the valuation and assessment*".²¹ Indeed, on two occasions the Supreme Court has observed that the statute constitutes only a temporary postponement of valuation and assessment of incomplete improvements.²² The latest articulation, *Collier County*, ²³ reiterates this.

Equal application of the statute is required - it applies to all property as of January 1.²⁴ It regulates the Property Appraiser, directing improvements not substantially complete to have no value thus shoring any debate as to what to do with such property. Some may say that, in fairness and notwithstanding the inexact judgment of appraisal, a formula is required whereby unfinished structures must pay something. Others say it is not fair to treat the inert unfinished status as one enjoying

²¹ We suggest this observation, stated in *Collier County v. State*, 733 So. 2d 1012 at 1019 (Fla. 1999), was not light nor the product of an incidental reference. It was deliberate and freighted with the respect allotted and required for the legislature.

²² See Collier County, supra at 1019 and Culbertson v. Seacost Towers East, Inc., 212 So. 2d 646, 647 (Fla. 1968).

²³ *See* fn. 21 and 22 *supra*.

²⁴ While *Markham v. Yankee Clipper Hotel, Inc.,* 427 So. 2d 383 (1983), *rev. den.*, 434 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1983) and *Culberston v. Seacoast Towers East,* 212 So. 2d 646 (1968) refer to the statute as creating a "classification", aught appears to indicate the term as one of art in the context of such cases. It is therefore unwise to proceed with the untested hypothesis that prior decisions have forever branded the statute as one creating a separate classification proscribed by Art. VII, §4 and that it may not be considered as reasonable regulation.

all perquisites afforded by government on January 1 and that a *just valuation* is to prescribe a timing regulation to postpone taxation until "fair market value" is better able to be gauged. Through exercise of the Constitutional mandate to *prescribe*, the debate ends.²⁵ A legislative finding²⁶ exists that it is only *just* to place **no taxable** value on the uncompleted and unfit improvements for a particular year, a result concomitant with the reign of Article VII, Section 4, to regulate and secure a *just valuation*. Succinctly, "no value" is a "*just valuation*" for qualifying structures, rationally defined for revenue raising purposes by the legislature.²⁷ This is the manner

²⁵ Terminating the debate through adoption of the bright line rule of §192.042(1) affords uniformity, predictability and certainty. *See* Brief of *Amicus Curiae* The St. Joe Company.

²⁶ Legislative findings and observations when rational must be upheld. *City of Tampa v. State ex. rel. Evans*, 155 Fla. 177, 19 So. 2d 697 (1944). Inquiry on the issue is limited to whether any state of facts, either known or assumed, afford support for the challenged statute. *See e.g.*, *State v. Bales*, 343 So. 2d 9, 11 (Fla. 1977); *State ex. Rel. Adams v. Lee*, 122 Fla. 639, 166 So. 249, 254 (1955), *affirmed on rehearing*, 122 Fla. 670, 166 So. 2d 262 (1936), *cert. denied*, 299 U.S. 542, 57 S. Ct. 15 (1936).

Additionally, the public policy determination inherent in the statute is of peculiar province to the legislature. *State v. Hodges*, 506 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1987) *rev. den.*, 515 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 1987).

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