IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUNSET HARBOUR NORTH)	
CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION and)	
STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT)	
REVENUE,)	Case No. SC03-520
Appellants,)	
V.)	Lower Tribunal No. 3D02-2316
)	
JOEL W. ROBBINS, Property)	
Appraiser for Miami-Dade County,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
	.)	

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE PROPERTY APPRAISER

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, Third District, State of Florida

ROBERT A. GINSBURG

Miami-Dade County Attorney Stephen P. Clark Center Suite 2810 111 N.W. 1st Street Miami, Florida 33128-1993 Tel: (305) 375-5151 Fax: (305) 375-5634

By

Thomas W. Logue Jay W. Williams James K. Kracht Assistant County Attorneys

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

Even if the Statute at issue were a timing regulation, however, the Legislature

simply cannot establish categories of property that are subject to special

"timing" regulations that operate solely to reduce their assessments below just

value. For these reasons, the Court must reject Appellants' "timing" argument.

G. The Statute Cannot Be Defended as a Legislative Definition Excluding "Improvements Not Substantially Complete" from the Constitutional Term "Property."

Amicus Florida Home Builders makes a complex argument that concludes that the Electorate in 1968 excluded by inference "properties not substantially completed" from the term "property" as used in the constitutional phrase "the just valuation of all property." *See*, Amicus Florida Home Builders Brief at 18-19. This argument relies upon a series of dubious inferences to reach to a blatantly illogical conclusion.

The conclusion reached by Florida Home Builders cuts against the very grain of the text of Article VII, section 4. It is illogical to conclude that the

Drafters, when they *expressly* set forth the only four permissible exceptions to fair market value, were also, by *inference*, adopting a fifth exception. This conclusion undermines the very purpose of having express exceptions. *Interlachen*, 304 So.2d at 434. Nothing in the Constitutional debates, ballot language, or contemporary documents supports such a counter-intuitive conclusion. *See* section I.C. of this brief, *supra*. Florida Home Builders' illogical conclusion in this regard grows even more

doubtful when one examines the assumptions that Florida Home Builders used to reach it. Florida Home Builders' argument is premised on the assumption that the substantially complete Statute amended by inference the legislative definition of "real property" in order to exclude incomplete improvements. This premise conflicts with the plain language of the statutes involved and with common sense.

The statutory definition of real property does not occur in the substantially complete Statute; instead, it occurs in section 192.001(12) of Florida Statutes. If the Legislature intended to change the definition of real property for tax purposes, common sense dictates that it would have done so by amending section 192.001(12), which was expressly created for purposes of defining that term, not by jumping over this section to amend the substantially complete Statute. Section 192.001(12) defines "real property" for tax purposes as meaning "land, buildings fixtures and all other improvements to land." Far from excluding improvements from the definition of real property, this definition explicitly includes "buildings ... and *all other improvements*" within the meaning of "real property." In doing so, it makes no distinction between

improvements that are complete or incomplete, thereby clearly including both categories.

Moreover, the substantially complete Statute also fails to contain any statement that removes incomplete improvements from the ambit of the term "real property". The substantially complete Statute sets forth three types of property: (1) real property, (2) tangible personal property, and (3) intangible personal property. It expressly includes "improvements ... not substantially completed" in the category of "real property," stating that "[a]ll property shall be assessed according to its just value as follows: (1) Real property, on January 1st of each year. Improvements or portions not substantially completed on January 1st shall have no value placed thereon." Far from *excluding* "not substantially completed" improvements from the definition of real property, the Statute's language expressly *includes* such improvements within its use of the term. Florida Home Builders' contrary assumption conflicts with the actual language of the Statute on this point.

Finally, even if the existing statutes supported Florida Home Builders' argument, which they do not, excluding incomplete improvements from the term "property" would exceed the Legislature's limited power to define constitutional terms. To say that a building under construction that is annexed or attached to land is not real property is a radical departure from the ordinary meaning of the
term "real property."⁸ To depart from this well-established meaning only to grant favored tax treatment that is otherwise unconstitutional falls well outside the legislature's ability to define constitutional terms. *See*, *e.g. Sebring Airport Authority v. McIntyre*, 783 so.2d 238, (Fla. 2001) (The legislature cannot provide a tax exemption for certain property by legislatively redefining the constitutional term "public purpose" to include an activity that does not qualify as a public purpose under the Constitution); Department of Revenue v. Florida Boaters Assoc., 409 So.2d 17, 19 (Fla. 1981) ("The flexibility granted to the Legislature [with respect to defining "boats' and other species of property excluded from ad valorem taxation] does not empower the Legislature to depart from the normal and ordinary meaning of the words chosen by the framers and adopters of the constitution."). For these reasons, the Statute cannot be upheld under Florida Home Builders' "definition" argument.

⁸ The normal and ordinary usage of the term "real property" includes all improvements to land, including buildings under construction. The improvement becomes part of the land not only after it is substantially completed but as soon as it is attached or annexed to the land. *See, generally, Miller v. Duke*, 155 So.2d 627, 628 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963) (materials supplied by subcontractor to build a house that general contractor only partially completed "were incorporated into the improvements to the land"); *Esto Real Estate Corp. v. Louisiana Tax Comm.*, 129 So. 117 (La. 1930) (partially completed three story brick apartment house was included within definition of real property); *Regency Dev. Co., Inc. v. Jefferson County Board of Equalization and Adjustment*, 437 So.2d 560 (Ala. 1983) (partially completed in term "real property.").

H. Appraisers and Courts Routinely Determine the Fair Market Value of Improvements That Are Not Substantially Complete.

Appellants finally contend that the valuation of incomplete buildings is too difficult, expensive, and subjective for Property Appraisers to undertake on a regular basis. There is no factual basis for this argument in the record. Moreover, a constitutional mandate cannot be set aside merely because it may be difficult to perform. Most importantly, however, Appellants grossly exaggerate the problems presented in this regard.

Appraisers and courts routinely determine the fair market value of incomplete buildings for purposes of eminent domain and insurance lost.⁹ Tax appraisers in other states routinely value incomplete buildings for ad valorem tax purposes.¹⁰ Appellants fail to provide any explanation why property appraisers in Florida cannot perform a function that tax appraisers in other states do as a normal and ordinary part of their responsibilities.

⁹ See, e.g., United States v. Savannah Shipyards, Inc., 139 F. 2d 953 (5th Cir. 1944) (taking of partially-completed shipyard); Laurel, Inc. v. Comm. of Transportation, 428 A. 2d 789 (Conn. 1980) (taking of partially-completed residential complex); State v. Willett Holding Co., 298 A. 2d 69 (N.J. 1972) (taking of partially completed nursing home); Rouse v. Williams Realty Building Co., 544 S.E. 2d 609 (Ct. App. N.C. 2001) (value for insurance purposes of partially built luxury home destroyed by fire). See, also, Appraisal Institute, The Appraisal of Real Estate at 580, 585 (11th ed. 1996). (discussing the appraisal of "a project that remains partially completed" and to the valuation of "improvements which may or may not be complete.").

¹⁰ See, e.g., Webb/Henne Montgomery Luxury Apartments v. Hamilton County Board of Revision, 654 N.E. 2d 1263 (Ohio 1995) (partially completed apartment complex); Sizemore v. Cleveland County Assessor, 690 P. 2d 1054 (Ok. 1984) (assessing partially completed office building); Kok v. Cascade Charter Township, 660 N.W. 2d 389 (Ct. App. Mich. 2003) (house under construction); Regency Dev. Co., Inc. v. Jefferson County Board of Equalization and Adjustment, 437 So.2d 560 (Ala. 1983) (partially-complete seven-story condominium).

Indeed, even in Florida, the Courts have upheld the method used by property appraisers to value property that is under construction and therefore not complete. *Colding v. Klausmeyer*, 387 So.2d 430 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980) (valuation of shell of incomplete building); *Aeronautical Communications Equipment, Inc.*, 219 So.2d 101 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969) (valuation of personal property under construction).

Moreover, Appellants' argument that incomplete buildings are too difficult to value collapses if one considers two obvious questions. If the subject eighteenstory building were destroyed in a fire, would the Appellants forego their insurance claim and agree that it had no value because attempting to assign a value was too difficult? If the subject twenty-two million dollar condominium complex was being taken by government in an eminent domain proceeding, would the Appellants assert the position that it was simply too difficult to value and therefore had no value? Both questions can only be answered in the negative. Thus, this Court must reject the Appellants' contention that buildings under construction are somehow too difficult to value.

II. THE PROPERTY APPRAISER PROPERLY RAISED THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE STATUTE DEFENSIVELY.

II. THE

A. Since Appellants Conceded the Property Appraiser's Standing, the Issue is Waived and Cannot Be Injected into this Appeal By Amici.

The Appellants conceded in both the trial and appellate Courts below that the Property Appraiser had standing to defensively challenge the Statute at issue and they have not raised the issue of standing as a grounds for reversal before this Court.¹¹ Because the Appellants have conceded the Property Appraiser's standing, the issue has been waived and cannot be raised for the first time in the Supreme Court. *Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Committee*, 625 So.2d 840, 842 (Fla. 1993). This rule applies with particular force in the instant case because (1) the attempt to interject standing into this case is being done by two non-party Amici Curiae that are barred from raising issues not raised by the parties; and because (2) Amici are raising the issue of standing based upon the

¹¹ The trial judge stated in her order, [a]ll parties agree that there is no standing issue in the instant case." RII-248. The Third District Court of Appeal stated, "[t]he parties here do **not** dispute the property appraiser's right to raise the constitutionality of the statute when defending against the taxpayer's challenge to the appraiser's assessment." *Sunset Harbour North Condominium Association v. Robbins*, 837 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003).

false contention that the Property Appraiser failed to apply the Statute in this case, when the undisputed record indicates that the Property Appraiser *did* apply the Statute. R-I-179.

This Court has consistently held that standing is waived if not raised in the lower courts. For example, in *Krivanek*, 625 So.2d at 842, this Court held that a party "has waived the right to raise the issue of standing because this issue has been raised for the first time in her petition to this Court. The issue of standing should have been raised as an affirmative defense before the trial court, and [the party's] failure to do so constitutes a waiver of that defense, precluding her from raising that issue now."

Similarly, this Court held that a Property Appraiser waived his right to dispute a taxpayer's standing to challenge the constitutionality of a tax statute in *Markham v. Neptune Hollywood Beach Club*, 527 So.2d 814, 814 n.2 (Fla. 1988). Noting that the standing argument "was not made before the trial court nor was the issue raised on direct appeal," the Court held that the Property Appraiser had "therefore waived the right to raise the issue of standing before this Court." *Id. See also Cowart v. City of West Palm Beach*, 255 So.2d 673, 674-75 (Fla. 1971) (where a defendant waited to raise the issue of standing until the matter was up on appeal, "the right to question the plaintiff's standing to sue was waived.").

Applying this law to the instant case, the issue of the standing of the Property Appraiser is not properly before this Court because the Appellants conceded the issue in the lower courts. Amicus FP & L attempts to evade this law by creatively interpreting these cases to hold that failure to raise standing in the lower courts constitutes waiver only if the standing problem could have been corrected if the issue had been raised in the pleadings at the trial level. Nothing in the cases supports FP&L's creative interpretation in this regard. But even under this strained reading of the case law, standing was waived in this case because any standing issue could have been resolved in the trial court if standing had been raised.

If standing had been timely raised as an affirmative defense, the Property Appraiser could have easily eliminated the standing issue by the simple expedient of joining the case in his individual capacity as a property owner and taxpayer. *See, e.g., Dept. of Educ. v. Lewis,* 416 So.2d 455, 458-59 (Fla. 1982) (officials who did not have standing to bring suit challenging statute in their official capacity had standing to do so "as ordinary citizens and taxpayers."); *Jones v. Dept. of Revenue,* 523 So.2d 1211, 1214 (Fla. Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (property appraiser has standing to challenge constitutionality of tax statute "in his individual capacity as a citizen and taxpayer."). The Property Appraiser could also have easily resolved this issue by having another taxpayer join the lawsuit to challenge the unconstitutional law at issue. Thus, even under FP&L's strained reading of the case law, it is clear that the issue of standing was waived in this case because the issue could have been eliminated if raised below.

Moreover, the facts of this case present a perfect occasion for this Court to remind amici that they are not authorized to interject new issues into a case. Every Florida court that has considered the issue and every major treatise on Florida Appellate law agree that amici curiae cannot raise issues not raised by the parties. See, e.g., Michels v. Orange County Fire/Rescue, 819 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) ("The issues raised by amici were not properly before this court"); Turner v. Tokai, 767 So.2d 494 n. 1 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000) (amicus cannot raise issues not raised by the parties.); Acton, II v. Ft. Lauderdale Hospital, 418 So.2d 1099, 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) ("amici lack standing to raise issues not raised by the parties, [therefore] this issue was not properly before the court."); Keating v. State, 157 So.2d 567, 569 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963) ("amici is not at liberty to inject new issues into a proceeding."); P. Padovano, Florida Appellate *Practice* (1988) Vol. 2 at 206 ("nor is it proper for an amicus to inject an issue that has not been raised by one of the parties."); D. Monaco, *Florida Appellate* Practice Forms and Commentary (1998), Comment to rule 9.370 ("Amici do not have standing to raise any issues ... which are not raised by the parties. That is to say, amici may not inject new issues into the proceeding.").

The problem of Amici interjecting new issues into an appeal is highlighted in this case because Amici base their standing argument on the false claim that the Property Appraiser in this case refused to apply the Statute. This claim is belied by the undisputed record fact that the Property Appraiser did apply the Statute. R.I-179. As stated in his undisputed affidavit, "the Property Appraiser determined that the subject property was substantially complete." R-I-Only when the Taxpayer filed a lawsuit disagreeing with the Property 179. Appraiser's determination under the Statute, and therefore the parties had an actual case and controversy, did the Property Appraiser raise the unconstitutionality of the Statute as an affirmative defense. Thus, the factual predicate upon which Amici based their challenge to the Property Appraiser's standing simply does not obtain in this case.

For all of the above reasons, this Court should hold that the issue of standing was waived and that Amici cannot interject it into this appeal at this late date.

B. In *Fuchs*, this Court Stated that Property Appraisers Have Standing to Raise the Constitutionality of Tax Statutes Defensively.

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